3

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Master in Equity
The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

NOV 20 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2014-CP-40-3950

Appellate Case No. 2016-001895

First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc., Successor by merger to Community Resource Bank, N. A.Respondent,

v.

SOH Properties LLC, Ivan A. Roldan, and Eugene G. McDonald a/k/a Eugene G. McDonald, III,
Defendants,

Of whom Eugene G. McDonald a/k/a Eugene G. McDonald, III is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Eugene G. McDonald
4533 Ivy Hall Dr
Columbia, South Carolina 29206

Pro se Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Court erred by denying the Defendant from amending his complaint thereby abusing his discretion pursuant to Rule 15 (a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and denying the Appellant due process and equal protection under the South Carolina and United States Constitution.
- II. The Trial Court, the Master in Equity, erred in failing to apply the theory of promissory estoppel to the Respondent's promise to renew and modify the terms of an existing note and mortgage which was the subject matter of the foreclosure action in this case.
- III. The Master in Equity erred in proceeding with foreclosure and granting a deficiency judgment against the Appellant due to his failure to recognize clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent failed to conduct itself with "Clean Hands" in dealing with the Appellant.
- IV. The Court abused its discretion by summarily granting unreasonably high attorney's fees in this case by summarily accepting the affidavit of the Respondent and glossing over the ability of the pro se Defendant in reviewing the affidavit and having the ability to make an objection to the amount.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is an appeal from a decision by the Court of Master in Equity and the Circuit Court. The Appellant, Eugene G. McDonald a/k/a Eugene G. McDonald, III, filed, with the Circuit Court, a Motion For Leave To Amend Answer of Eugene G. McDonald III and SOH Properties, LLC. The motion was heard before Judge Barber on February 11, 2015 at which time SOH Properties-LLC was denied Leave but Appellant McDonald was granted 15 days to re file the motion, individually, along with the proposed Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-claim. The amended motion was filed with the Clerk of Court within the timeframe that was granted. The Respondent filed a Memorandum in Opposition and a Motion for Order of Reference to the Master in Equity. This was heard before the Honorable Casey Manning on July 29, 2015 and without consideration of the Appellant's original answer and cross-claim to the Summons and Complaint and the Appellant's Proposed Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-claim, was denied and the Respondents' Motion For Order of Reference was granted. This was later testified in Judge Strickland's court that the Appellants original answer was viable (R.p103, line 2-5).

From that order, a Contested Foreclosure hearing was held 29 June 2016 in front of The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity. The case was presented and arguments were made that as to where no "written agreement" existed, financial information was provided by the Appellant to the Respondents' on numerous occasions based off of the verbal promises that a renew was forthcoming. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Strickland ruled in favor of the Respondents, setting a date for the foreclosure sale and agreeing to an order for Deficiency Judgment. An Order was signed on 20 July 2016 and filed on 2 August 2016. The Respondent's counsel was awarded \$17,500.00 in attorney's fees for the action.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal involves the foreclosure action of a first and second mortgage on a piece of real estate at 52 Hutto Dr in Columbia SC, further identified by Tax Map number R14107-04-25. The property was acquired thru a mortgage provided by Community Resource Bank of Orangeburg SC on 17 September 2004. The deed was titled to SOH Properties LLC, a Limited Liability Company filed with the South Carolina Secretary of State on 13 August 2004. SOH Properties LLC was in the business of buying distressed and below market value real estate, renovation and remarketing the property. During a period of time, SOH had purchased, renovated and sold approximately 14 pieces of real estate with two properties still in inventory. The subject property was renovated and subsequently occupied by a tenant/buyer with a Bond for Title with a rental agreement. During the same period of time, SOH was in the process of completing a renovation of a piece of real estate that was completed using an unsecured loan from Community Resource Bank. That property was retained as a rental property.

Around 2008, First Citizen Bank acquired Community Resource Bank along with the secured loan for 52 Hutto

Ct and the unsecured loan that was used to renovate the other dwelling. The terms of the original mortgage with Community Resource Bank, secured by 52 Hutto Ct, was for 5 years. The note came due in 2009 and the loan renewal process began with First Citizens. The loan had been current and in good standing and was renewed for an additional 5 year term, as most commercial loans of this type. This was only done with the agreement that SOH would allow First Citizens to attach the unsecured loan that was used to renovate a piece of property in which First Citizens had no interest. Due to the existing situation with the lending industry, SOH and their guarantors felt they had little option but to accept First Citizens offer and allow the attachment of the unsecured second. At this time the mortgage that was secured by 52 Hutto Ct and the unsecured loan was renewed with 52 Hutto Ct being the collateral for both loans.

During the period from this renewal to 2012, payments were being made on both loans. Defendant Roldan was in control of the receivables of this piece of this asset and was also responsible for making payments for maintaining the debt requirements. Sometime between 2011 and 2012, defendant Roldan caused First Citizen to file for a foreclosure action. At this time, the Appellant brought suit against Roldan to force him to cure the default. Negotiations began with First Citizens thru their representative Mr. Dave Davies, who represented himself as an officer of the bank. Working with Mr. Davies, the loan was modified and payments, under the Appellants control were made.

As the loan term was ending, discussions to renewing the loan were commenced with Mr. Davies and the Appellant. At the same time, a Summons and Complaint were filed to bring forth a foreclosure action of the two mortgages. An Answer and Cross Claim on behalf of SOH Properties LLC and the Appellant were filed. During this time, Mr. Davies requested certain financial information on various dates from the Appellant, which was to be used to renew the mortgage. All requested information of the Appellant was provided in a timely manner and each time of submission, Mr. Davies assured the Appellant that the loan was going to be renewed.(R.p133, line 4-6; R.p.142, line 3-4; R.p144, line 22-23, R.p.145, line 16-25, R.p146, line 5-8, R.p.146, line 15-17). After the submission of the Appellant's debt schedule, the lines of communication with Mr. Davies ceased. The Appellant, at this time, reached out to the Respondent's attorney, Mr. Stanley McGuffin, to inquire as to the status of the renewal. He responded by arranging a meeting in his office to take place between Mr. Davies of First Citizens, Mr. Roldan and the Appellant in his office to discuss the loan. All parties met on 31 July 2015. At the end of the meeting, the Appellant left with the understanding that the renewal process was moving forward. (R.p.136, line21-25). After the meeting, Mr. Davies contacted the Appellant via email to request a debt schedule. (R.p.137, line 1-6). This was further discussed with Mr. Davies via a phone conversation at which time the Appellant was again told a renewal would be forthcoming.

At this point, the correspondence from Mr. Davies ceased. Any further communications were with the Respondents' attorney, Mrs. Caskey. A motion hearing was held and both parties presented their argument. During this time period, a hearing was also held with the Honorable Judge Lee in regards to the Appellant's cross-claim

against defendant Roldan. At this hearing, Judge Lee ruled that defendant Roldan was in default and the Appellant was awarded a deficiency judgment. A damages hearing has been delayed until the outcome of this Appeal. Subsequently, the Appellant acting Pro se filed a Motion to Amend Answer, Cross-claim and Counterclaim for SOH Properties LLC and the Appellant. This was heard in front of Judge Barber in which the ruling was that the Appellant acting Pro se could not answer for the LLC but was granted 15 days to amend his motion along with the proposed counterclaim, individually. The filing was made in a timely manner and was subsequently heard before the Honorable Casey Manning on July 29, 2015 and without consideration of the Appellant's original answer and cross-claim to the Summons and Complaint and the Appellant's Proposed Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-claim, was denied and the Respondents' Motion for Order of Reference was granted.

From that order, a Contested Foreclosure hearing was held 29 June 2016 in front of The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity. The facts of the case were presented by the Respondents' and the Appellant to Judge Strickland. At the request of the Respondent, Mr. David Walker is requested to testify of the validity of the loan documents to include the notes and mortgages. He states he is Senior Vice President. He further states his specialty is real estate. (R.p.107, line 7-9) Thru further testimony, Mr. Walker states that he has access to electronic loan documents and at the appropriate time. (R.p.107, line 16-24). Further, he states that he has reviewed the guaranties.(R.p.108, line 7) but during his cross examination by the Appellant, Mr. Walker, after agreeing that he has reviewed the load documents and testified to the validity of the accounting, admits that he overlooked a simple acknowledgement of an initial during his review on a page of a loan document. (R.p.121 line 23 – R.p.122 line 1).

The Appellant called Mr. Dave Davies as a witness. The Appellant states that on many occasions that the Respondent's Representative Mr. Davis promised and led the Appellant to believe that the loan would be renewed as he had before. The Appellant relied on the past history of their relationship as Mr. Davies being officer of the bank and dealing with a prior situation like the foreclosure action that is the subject of this appeal. In Mr. Davies' testimony, when questioned about his emails leading to a renewal would be forthcoming in the following week, he states, "Well Yea" (R.p.158 line 4-7). When Mr. Davies is further questioned about the renewal, that, as an officer of the Respondent, he informed the Appellant that the note will be renewed. (R.p.161, line 3-8).

The council of the respondent has made claims that the Appellant never brought a plan with terms, conditions and payments. It has been the Appellants experience that when approaching a lending institution to obtain financing, usually the Leander is the one who offers the term and conditions it will accept. The Appellant has never been a position to tell a lender "these are the terms of which you will lend me funds." For the Respondents' argument to be that the Appellant never presented an acceptable and equitable solution seems to be an unarguable point. They only offer to a plan to avoid foreclosure, besides the acceleration of the notes by the Respondent, was presented by the Appellant, which was never responded to. As attested to by the counsel of the Respondent, it appears the Respondent knew there was a loan to value issue involved, (R.p.101 line 11) but was never discussed (R.p.102 line 14-15). This could show that the Respondent knew but concealed the fact they caused the loan to value

of the property to be unfavorable. Once the Respondent had obtained the information from the Appellant through numerous promises of a forthcoming renewal by one of their officers, they realized that they could have a source to recover a deficiency judgment. Relying on the same Officer of the Respondent as before, Appellant was forthcoming and cooperative in reaching an equitable solution.

IV. ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

A. The Court erred by denying the Defendant from amending his complaint thereby abusing his discretion pursuant to Rule 15 (a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and denying the Appellant due process and equal protection under the South Carolina and United States Constitution.

After the Plaintiff filed its foreclosure action and the Defendant filed and answer and a cross-claim against a co-defendant, the Defendant, Appellant felt it was necessary to amend his complaint to include some counterclaims against the Plaintiff due to what he felt was wrongdoing on the part of the Plaintiff, Respondent. The first motion was heard before Judge Barber on February 11, 2015 at which time he gave the Defendant/Appellant 15 days to file his amended complaint individually, but he denied the Corporation, SOH Properties, LLC, the right to amend due to the Defendant/Appellant being pro se thereby precluding him from representing the corporation since he is not an attorney.

Subsequently, the Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Amended Complaint within the time set out in Judge Barber's Order. The Plaintiff/Respondent made a motion to deny the Defendant/Appellant the right to amend the complaint. That matter was heard before the Honorable Casey Manning on July 29, 2015 at which time he denied the Defendant/Appellant the right to amend his complaint. (The wrong case number was transposed on the Form 4 C which apparently was a clerical error by the Clerk of Court for Richland County) The reasoning behind the holding by Judge Manning was that the counterclaims asserted by the Defendant/Appellant were futile since in his opinion they could not survive.

The Appellant asserts that Judge Manning erred in ruling on a matter already ruled on by Judge Barber. Judge Barber gave the Appellant the right to amend his complaint. Pursuant to South Carolina Civil Procedure Rule Number 15 (a), the Court has liberal authority to allow a party to amend his pleading after the 30 days given as a matter of right if justice requires it and it does not prejudice the other party.

The Appellant felt he was wronged by the Respondent's actions and made it clear in his counterclaims filed with his amended answer. Certainly, if a wrong has been committed emanating from the same

transaction or occurrence then justice would require a fair hearing of the Appellants complaints. Further, based on the time element, the final hearing in this case did not occur until over a year after the denial of Judge Manning. There would be no prejudice to the Respondent for the counterclaims to be prepared for and litigated.

Further Judge Manning ruled that according to case law, the counterclaims of the Appellant would be futile therefore he felt compelled to over-rule Judge Barber's previous ruling and in essence pronounce summary judgment on the counterclaims of the Appellant prior to hearing any evidence or argument in connection with the counterclaims.

The Appellant asserts that the trial judge could have just as easily ruled the futility of the counterclaims of the Appellant, after he had heard the evidence in the case, if it so warranted. But in denying the Appellant's amended answer with inclusion of counterclaims denied the Appellant due process and equal protection under the Constitution of South Carolina and the United States of America.

B. The Trial Court, the Master in Equity, erred in failing to apply the theory of promissory estoppel to the Respondent's promise to renew and modify the terms of an existing note and mortgage which was the subject matter of the foreclosure action in this case.

The Defendant had foreclosed on the Appellant one time prior to the subject of this subject action of foreclosure. Resulting from that foreclosure, an agreement was entered into by the Appellant and the Respondent which ended the foreclosure and promulgated a new agreement. Prior to the agreement being signed, the Appellant was promised that a renewal and another agreement would be made between the Appellant and the Respondent. Appellant asserts that was a promise. The subsequent note and mortgage that resulted from that promise was a contract and security interest on property that was legally a separate and apart legal action that was taken pursuant to the previous promise that was made to the Appellant.

In this case, the property came under foreclosure once again due to circumstances that were out of the control of the Appellant. He made that known to the Respondent and entered into negotiations with the Respondent concerning renewing the note and mortgage. A close reading of the testimony from the parties actually involved in the negotiations clearly showed that the Respondent's agent, Mr. Davies, gave the Appellant the promise that a renewal was forthcoming. A meeting was held in the office of the Respondent's counsel to discuss that subject. Documents requested by the Respondent from the Appellant were provided not one but even two different times. The Appellant complied, and in subsequent conversations and emails presented at trial showed that the Respondent's agent clearly indicated to the Appellant that a renewal was forthcoming.

According to *Craft vs. S.C. Commission for the Blind*, Court of Appeals Opinion No. 4628 filed on November 3, 2009, the elements for the common law promissory estoppels are (1) a promise that is unambiguous in its terms; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise; (3) the reliance was expected and foreseeable; and (4) injury in reliance on the promise.

Regarding element (1), the promise was to renew the note and that it was forthcoming. The Respondent argued at trial that the terms weren't clear when the promise was made so that made it ambiguous. The promise was that the note and mortgage would be renewed period. There is nothing ambiguous about that in light of the numerous conversations, emails, and cooperation given to Respondent by the Appellant with really no leverage to dictate terms, rather a simple acceptance in light of the circumstances he was in.

Regarding (2), the Appellant had a right to reasonably rely on the Respondent's promise based on the past practice of this same agent for the Respondent doing exactly the same thing in a prior instance. The Appellant could rely on the promise because it was given to him in the form of a promise. He had a right to rely on that promise based on past practices of the Respondent through its agent.

Regarding (3), the reliance was expected and foreseeable because the past practice of the Respondent was to work with the Appellant and resolve the issue as it had in the past. The Appellant had always enjoyed good relations with the Respondent and Mr. Davies, agent for the Respondent, was offering assurances as he had in the past, that the renewable was forthcoming. At trial, Mr. Davies, a prior employee of the Respondent, denied he was discharged due to his business practices, and though having dealt with the Appellant on numerous occasions was unable to remember too much about the transaction other than there was no execution of a four-cornered document. The Respondent argued that unless a note and mortgage is produced and executed by both parties there is no liability on their behalf and that nothing outside the four corners of the document mean anything. The Respondent claimed they were settlement negotiations. Appellant asserts that negotiations are starkly different that a promise to renew a note period.

Regarding (4), the Respondent simply quit communicating with the Appellant after receiving all kinds of personal information requested from him and preceded to foreclosure. The Appellant asserts that after the banking crisis where the Federal Government bailed out the banks to keep them solvent, the banks started requesting information from foreclosure victims indicating a willingness to modify, forebear, or renew the notes and mortgages, simply as a fishing expedition to ascertain true assets of the borrower so that a determination could be made as to whether to seek a deficiency judgment from the borrower. In this case, the Respondent decided to pursue deficiency against the appellant resulting in approximately 100 thousand dollar

The Appellant asserts that this type of behavior should be estopped and that the Respondent should be equitably estopped from seeking a deficiency judgment against the Appellant.

C. The Master in Equity erred in proceeding with foreclosure and granting a deficiency judgment against the Appellant due to his failure to recognize clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent failed to conduct itself with “Clean Hands” in dealing with the Appellant.

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