THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-40-3950  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001895

---

RECEIVED

NOV 16 2017

SC Court of Appeals

First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc., successor by  
Merger to Community Resource Bank, N.A.,.....Respondent,

v.

SOH Properties, LLC, Ivan A. Roldan, and Eugene G.  
McDonald a/k/a Eugene G. McDonald, III, Defendants,

Of whom Eugene G. McDonald a/k/a Eugene G. McDonald, III, is the Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Stanley H. McGuffin, SC Bar No. 3830

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

**A. The Bank was not under any contractual or legal obligation to modify the Notes, the Mortgages, or the Guaranties.**

All of McDonald's counterclaims are based on factual allegations that the Bank improperly failed to modify the commercial loan that is the subject of this foreclosure action. (R. at 59-61.) In support of these claims, McDonald alleges that "[t]hroughout the time that it was apparent that there were issues with the notes, Plaintiff had engaged in such conduct that led Defendants to believe a restructuring of the notes was imminent." (R. at 59.) McDonald asserts that these facts support counterclaims for unclean hands, misrepresentation, and detrimental reliance. (R. at 61.)

Regardless of how McDonald classifies or casts his claims, the Bank was under no obligation, legally or contractually, to modify the commercial loan that is the subject of this action. There is simply no provision in the Notes, the Mortgages, or the

---

<sup>3</sup> Federal courts interpreting Rule 15, FRCP, which mirrors the relevant portions of South Carolina's state rule, have also consistently denied a motion to amend where such amendments would be futile. *See, e.g., Perkins v. United States*, 55 F.3d 910, 917 (4th Cir. 1995) (upholding district court's denial of motion for leave to amend because additional claims were "futile" and "could not withstand a motion to dismiss").

Guaranties that require a modification or other amendment to the terms of the agreements. Further, the Bank has not breached any loan document by denying McDonald's request for a loan modification, or by collecting the debt in the manner prescribed in the Notes, the Mortgages, and/or the Guaranties. A contracting party does not breach his implied duty of good faith and fair dealing by refusing to change the terms of a contract. *Adams v. G.J. Creel and Sons, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 274, 277, 465 S.E.2d 84, 85 (1995); *see also Dearaujo v. PNC Bank, N.A.*, Case No. 2:12-cv-00981, 2012 WL 5818131 (D. Nev. Nov. 15, 2012) (finding there was no breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing when a bank failed to modify a loan because "(1) there was no enforceable contract between the parties requiring Defendant to modify the loan, (2) there was no duty to modify under the operative Loan Agreement, and (3) Plaintiff has failed to plead any plausible facts that Defendants breached the intention and spirit of the Loan Agreement.")

The Bank was not under any contractual or legal obligation to modify the Notes, the Mortgages, or the Guaranties. Therefore, McDonald's counterclaims do not state facts that would support a claim, and the Circuit Court correctly denied his motion to amend his answer to assert futile counterclaims against the Bank.

**B. Any agreement to modify the Notes, Mortgages, and/or Guaranties had to be in writing.**

It is axiomatic that any modification of a written contract must satisfy all requirements of a valid contract. *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989) (citations omitted). Under South Carolina's Statute of Frauds, any agreement to answer for the debt of another or any contract dealing with an interest in land must be in writing. S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10. Accordingly, a contract required to be in writing

by the South Carolina Statute of Frauds cannot be orally modified. *Player*, 299 S.C. at 105, 382 S.E.2d at 893.

Further, no person may maintain an action for relief or a defense based upon the failure to perform an alleged promise, undertaking, commitment, or agreement “to renew, modify, amend, or cancel a loan of money or any provision with respect to a loan of money, involving any such case a principal amount in excess of [\$50,000]” unless the party seeking to enforce said agreement has “received a writing from the party to be charged containing the material terms and conditions” of the agreement and “the party to be charged, or its duly authorized agent, has signed the writing.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-107(1)(c).

McDonald has not alleged and cannot show that the Bank entered into a written agreement to modify the Notes, the Mortgages, or the Guaranties. (R. at 145:3-146:3.) Thus, McDonald’s counterclaims, that are based upon the premise that the Bank promised to modify the agreements between them, are meritless and the Circuit Court correctly denied his motion to amend.

**C. The alleged statements on which McDonald relies cannot be the basis for a misrepresentation counterclaim.**

The Circuit Court correctly ruled that both of McDonald’s counterclaims for misrepresentation failed as a matter of law because these claims rely on statements concerning future events. To establish a cause of action for fraud based upon misrepresentation, the following elements must be shown by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence:

- (1) a representation;
- (2) its falsity;
- (3) its materiality;
- (4) either knowledge of its falsity or a reckless disregard of its truth or falsity;
- (5) intent that the representation be acted upon;
- (6) the hearer’s ignorance of its falsity;
- (7)

the hearer's reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury.

*M.B. Kahn Constr. Co. v. South Carolina Nat'l Bank*, 274 S.C. 381, 384, 271 S.E.2d 414, 415 (1980). "Failure to prove any one of the foregoing elements is fatal to recovery." *Id.* Additionally, statements concerning a future event – such as the modification of an agreement – cannot form the basis of fraud.

Under South Carolina law, an allegedly fraudulent representation "must relate to a **present or pre-existing fact** and it cannot ordinarily be based upon an unfulfilled promise to perform in the future or statements as to future events." *Bishop Logging Co. v. John Deer Indus. Equip. Co.*, 317 S.C. 520, 527, 455 S.E.2d 183, 187 (1995) (emphasis added). "As a general rule, fraud cannot be predicated on a statement that constitutes an expression of an intention." *Osborn v. Univ. Med. Assocs.*, 278 F. Supp. 2d 720, 732 (D.S.C. 2003).

Even if McDonald could prove that a representative of the Bank promised him that Notes, the Mortgages, or the Guaranties would be modified, such statements concern an unfulfilled promise to perform in the future or a statement as to a future event, and cannot be considered the basis for a fraudulent misrepresentation cause of action. Thus, the alleged misrepresentations cannot be the basis for damages, and allowing McDonald to assert his proposed counterclaims would have been futile.

**II. The Master did not err in failing to apply the doctrine of promissory estoppel in this foreclosure action because no promise was ever made to McDonald.**

McDonald argues that the Master erred in failing to apply the doctrine of promissory estoppel in this case because the Bank allegedly promised to renew and modify the terms of the Notes and Mortgages. At the outset, McDonald did not raise this argument to the trial court, and therefore is not preserved for review. *Wilder Corp. v.*

*Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998).

South Carolina courts have consistently refused to apply the plain error rule. Instead, it is the responsibility of the appellant to preserve issues for appellate review. *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 306-07, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997). It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 566, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007).

McDonald did not raise a claim or affirmative defense of promissory estoppel in his original Answer and Crossclaim, his proposed Answer and Counterclaim that was denied by the Court of Common Pleas, or at the final foreclosure hearing. Additionally, the Master did not address whether promissory estoppel applied in this action and McDonald failed to file a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. *See Hancock v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 168, 171, 584 S.E.2d 398, 399 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding that an argument raised to the trial judge but not addressed in the final order is not preserved for appellate review when the appellant fails to file a motion to alter or amend). Thus, it is not preserved for this Court's review.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that this issue is preserved, McDonald has presented no evidence that a promise was made to him. In order to recover under the theory of promissory estoppel, McDonald must demonstrate: "(1) the presence of a promise

unambiguous in its terms; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise; (3) the reliance was expected and foreseeable; and (4) injury in reliance of the promise.” *Craft v. South Carolina Com’n for Blind*, 385 S.C. 560, 565, 685 S.E.2d 625, 627 (Ct. App. 2009) (citation omitted). Whether the doctrine is applicable “depends upon whether the refusal to apply the doctrine would be virtually to sanction the perpetration of fraud or would result in other injustice.” *Citizens Bank v. Gregory’s Warehouse, Inc.*, 297 S.C. 151, 154, 375 S.E.2d 316, 318 (Ct. App. 1988).

As discussed at length above, the gravamen of McDonald’s claims rest upon his allegation that the Bank had promised him that it was going to renew or modify the Notes, Mortgages, and/or Guaranties. However, there is nothing in the record to support that allegation except for McDonald’s unsubstantiated assertions.

As mentioned previously, David Davies, who was the account officer for the Notes, Mortgages, and Guaranties at all relevant times in this case, testified multiple times during the hearing under questioning from McDonald that the Bank never agreed to renew or modify the loan nor did they ever settle on terms of such an agreement. (R. at 152:11-21; 153:20-154:8; 156:10-157:3.)<sup>4</sup> He further explained that the Bank could not move forward with negotiations related to renewing or modifying the Notes, Mortgages, or Guaranties because the Bank had not received documents from Roldan, who was McDonald’s co-guarantor of the Notes and Mortgages. (R. at 164:3-17.) Moreover, Mr. Davies testified that even though he had accepted documents from McDonald in order to

---

<sup>4</sup> As an alternate sustaining ground, pursuant to Rule 220, SCACR, the Court should have sustained the Bank’s objection to the introduction of any testimony related to the negotiations between McDonald and the Bank on the grounds that Rule 408 to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence precludes the admission of evidence of conduct or statements made in settlement negotiations. (See R. at 104: 6-18; 132:14-134:14.)

assess whether the Bank would consider a loan modification, the Bank did not promise that it was going to enter into an agreement with McDonald because terms of such an agreement were never agreed upon. (R. at 156:18-157:3.)

Even McDonald admitted that he never received or signed a loan modification agreement nor could he provide direct evidence of the Bank's promise to enter into such an agreement. (R. at 147:12-148:1.) Instead, McDonald testified only that he *thought* it was the Bank's "intention" to modify the Notes and Mortgages. (R. at 146:9-17.)

The testimony and evidence presented at the hearing falls considerably short of establishing the presence of an unambiguous promise. As a result, the Master did not err in failing to apply the doctrine of promissory estoppel in this case.

**III. The Master did not err in refusing to apply the doctrine of unclean hands.**

McDonald next argues that the Master erred in failing to apply the doctrine of unclean hands as a defense to the foreclosure action and the deficiency judgment that was entered. Again, McDonald did not raise this argument to the Master during the hearing nor did he plead this affirmative defense in his original Answer and Crossclaim, and therefore is not preserved for review. *Wilke*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 734. Additionally, the Master did not address whether unclean hands applied in this action and McDonald failed to file a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. *See Hancock*, 355 S.C. at 171, 584 S.E.2d at 399.

However, assuming that the defense of unclean hands was properly raised, McDonald does not cite to anything in the Record to support his fact-based argument, despite having the burden of proof on this issue. *See U.S. Bank Trust Nat'l Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 375, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205 (Ct. App. 2009) (holding that once default has been proven, the burden of "establishing a defense to foreclosure" shifts to the borrower).

McDonald does not dispute that he signed the Notes, Mortgages, and Guarantees; nor does he contest their validity. (R. at 142:25-144:3.) Thus, the Court should not have to blindly dig through the Record for evidence support his fact-based arguments when the McDonald has failed to cite anything to support his position.

Moreover, as set forth in Section I(A) above, the Bank was not under any contractual or legal obligation to modify the Notes, the Mortgages, or the Guaranties, and thus did not act unfairly in electing to proceed under the terms of those instruments. Because the Bank's actions were not unfair and were expressly allowed by contract, they cannot support a defense of unclean hands.

Further, MacDonald testified at the foreclosure hearing that he is not in a position financially to pay off or refinance the Notes. (R. at 170:7-16.) This Court has previously rejected allegations that assume banks take measures that are plainly contrary to their self-interests. *See e.g., Robertson v. First Union Nat'l Bank*, 350 S.C. 339, 351, 565 S.E.2d 309, 315 (Ct. App. 2002) ("Additionally, we can think of no logical reason why Bank would make it a practice to intentionally make loans for an amount in excess of the collateral's value and risk substantial losses in the event of default.").

The equitable doctrine of unclean hands prevents a party from recovering if it acted unfairly to the prejudice of the defendant. *Wilson v. Landstrom*, 281 S.C. 260, 266, 315 S.E.2d 130, 134 (Ct. App. 1984). Here, McDonald claims that the Bank acted unfairly to him by not going through with a loan modification. However, the testimony from Mr. Davies makes clear that the Bank was unable to move forward with negotiations as to a loan modification because it did not receive the necessary documents from McDonald's co-guarantor, Roldan. (R. at 164:3-17.)

Further, even if the Court chooses to accept McDonald's claims, there is no possible prejudice to McDonald because he is not in a financial position to pay the amount owed or refinance the debt. Thus, his argument as to "unclean hands" fails on its merits. *See Wilson*, 281 S.C. at 267, 315 S.E.2d at 134 ("Since prejudice to the defendant is a necessary element of the 'unclean hands' defense, the doctrine cannot bar relief on the facts before us.").

**IV. The issue of the Bank's attorneys' fees is not preserved for review by this Court.**

McDonald argues in Section IV(D) of his brief that the trial court abused its discretion in awarding attorneys' fees to the Bank in the amount of \$17,500.00 because the Master "simply rubber-stamped the amount of attorney's fees" and failed to ensure that McDonald, as a pro se litigant, "understood what was being entered and giving him an opportunity to review it prior to summarily accepting it." As with Sections II and III above, McDonald did not raise this issue with the trial court or was it addressed pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. Furthermore, he did not object to submission of the affidavit nor challenged its sufficiency at trial. (*See R. at 28:12-24.*) Because McDonald asserts this issue for the first time on appeal, it is not preserved for review. *See Allen v. Allen*, 347 S.C. 177, 187, 554 S.E.2d 421, 427 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding issued unpreserved where the husband raised the issue of attorney fees in his post trial motion for reconsideration, but did not mention the sufficiency of the wife's attorney fee affidavit nor did he object to the submission of the affidavit or challenge its sufficiency at trial).

In the alternative, if this Court determines that the issue of the Bank's attorneys' fees is preserved for review, the Master did not abuse his discretion in awarding attorneys' fees in the amount of \$17,500, as authorized by the Notes, Mortgages, and

Guaranties.

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